
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
  

  
   

   
  

 
 

              
 

   
 

 
 

   
 

       
 

  
 

      
 

   
 

   
 

 

AGENDA 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD 

City Commission Chambers 
February 23, 2023 8:30 A.M. 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with 
disabilities needing special accommodation to participate in this proceeding, or those requiring language 
assistance (free of charge) should contact the City of Lakeland ADA Specialist, Jenny Sykes, no later 
than 48 hours prior to the proceeding, at (863) 834-8444, Email: Jennifer.Sykes@lakelandgov.net. If 
hearing impaired, please contact the TDD numbers: Local - (863) 834-8333 or 1-800-955-8771 (TDD-
Telecommunications Device for the Deaf) or the Florida Relay Service Number 1-800-955-8770 (VOICE), 
for assistance. 

Anyone deciding to appeal a decision by the Board on any matter considered at this or any subsequent 
meeting will need a record of the proceedings, and for purposes of that appeal, may need to ensure that 
a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon 
which the appeal is to be based. 

I. Call to order, determination of a quorum, and roll call. 

II. Review and approval of the January 26, 2023 Historic Preservation Board meeting minutes. 

III. Old Business: 

A. Status update on the resurvey of the East and South Lake Morton Historic Districts. 

IV. New Business: None 

V. Adjourn for Design Review Committee. 

Y:\CDDO\HPB.DRC\HPB-DRC 2023\02.23.23\2.23.23 HPB Agenda.docx 

http:2023\02.23.23\2.23.23
mailto:Jennifer.Sykes@lakelandgov.net


 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
        

 
 

     
       

    
      

 
 

    
 

             
          

 
 

      
 

    
        

 
   

 
     

  
  

  
 

    
 

    
 

 
 

    
   

    
  

 
    

 
    

 
   

       

MINUTES 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD 
City Commission Chambers 
Thursday, January 26, 2023 
8:30 a.m. 

(Please note: These meeting minutes comply with FS 286.011 and are not intended to be a verbatim 
transcript.) 

The City of Lakeland Historic Preservation Board met in Regular Session; Lynn Dennis, Landis Fleming, 
Jeremy Moses, Cesar Perez, Michael Porter, Natalie Oldenkamp, Chris Olson and MeLynda Rinker were 
present. Community & Economic Development Department staff Emily Foster, Senior Planner, Historic 
Preservation and Christelle Burrola, Planning Assistant, and Jerrod Simpson, Assistant City Attorney, 
were also present. 

I. Call to Order and Determination of a Quorum 

Chair Chris Olson called the January 26, 2023 meeting of the Historic Preservation Board 
(“Board”) to order at 8:30 a.m. A quorum was reached, as eight Board members were 
present. 

II. Review and Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes 

Ms. Lynn Dennis motioned to approve the December 15, 2022 meeting minutes as 
presented. Mr. Landis Fleming seconded the motion. The motion passed 7—0. 

III. Old Business: 

A. Status update on the resurvey of the East and South Lake Morton Historic Districts. Ms. 
Foster stated all of the Florida Master Site File (FMSF) forms for all contributing 
buildings have been completed. Staff is currently reviewing the draft report and will 
provide any feedback to the consultant. 

IV. New Business: NONE 

A. New Board Members. Staff and the Board welcomed two new members, Natalie 
Oldenkamp and Bruce Anderson. Bruce Anderson will be joining the Board at the 
February meeting. 

B. Vacancy on Design Review Committee. Staff recommends the appointment of Michael 
Porter to the Design Review Committee, to fill John White’s seat. Ms. MeLynda Rinker 
motioned to nominate Michael Porter. Mr. Cesar Perez seconded the motion and it 
passed 8—0. 

V. Adjourn for Design Review Committee. 

The meeting adjourned at 8:38 a.m. 

Chair, Historic Preservation Board Senior Planner, Historic Preservation 

\\col-data\cityhall-1\CDDO\HPB.DRC\HPB-DRC 2023\01.26.23\HPB Minutes 1.26.23.docx 
1 



 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
        

   
      

   
 

 
 

       
  

 
 

     
 

        
 

   
 

    
 

     
 

         
  

 
 

          
            

  
 

              
 

  
 

        
        

  
 

   
 

   

AGENDA 
DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE 

February 23, 2023 
immediately following the Historic Preservation Board Meeting 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities 
needing special accommodation to participate in this proceeding, or those requiring language assistance (free of charge) 
should contact the City of Lakeland ADA Specialist, Jenny Sykes, no later than 48 hours prior to the proceeding, at (863) 
834-8444, Email: Jennifer.Sykes@lakelandgov.net. If hearing impaired, please contact the TDD numbers: Local - (863) 
834-8333 or 1-800-955-8771 (TDD-Telecommunications Device for the Deaf) or the Florida Relay Service Number 1-800-
955-8770 (VOICE), for assistance. 

Anyone deciding to appeal a decision by the Board on any matter considered at this or any subsequent meeting will need 
a record of the proceedings, and for purposes of that appeal, may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings 
is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 

I. Call to order, determination of a quorum, and roll call. 

II. Review and approval of the January 26, 2023 Design Review Committee meeting minutes. 

III. Review Certificates of Review administratively approved since the previous meeting. 

IV. Consideration of Certificate of Review Applications: 

A. Oath Administration for Public Testimony by Assistant City Attorney Jerrod Simpson. 

B. HPB23-016 – 1017 South Boulevard – Final Approval requested for the construction of a new detached 
garage and accessory dwelling unit on the subject property. Owner: Mr. Marten Walters. Applicant: Prebor 
3 Architecture. 

C. HPB23-019 – 522 E. Park Street – Final Approval requested for the new construction of an addition onto 
the rear elevation of the house on the subject property. Owner: Mr. Michael McArthur and Ms. Jennifer 
Smurr. Applicant: Prebor 3 Architecture. 

D. HPB23-020 – 201 E. Main Street – Final Approval requested for recessing the glass storefront windows 
and entry door on the north elevation of the building on the subject property. Owner: Dr. Saqib Khan. 
Applicant: Mr. Soloman Wassef, Lakeland Loft. 

E. HPB23-022 – 809 Osceola Street – Final Approval requested for the construction of a second-story 
Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) above the existing detached garage on the subject property. Owner: Mr. 
Greg Neely. Applicant: Mr. Dan Sharrett, Sharrett Construction. 

V. Other Business: NONE 

VI. Adjournment. 

Y:\CDDO\HPB.DRC\HPB-DRC 2023\02.23.23\2.23.23 DRC Agenda.docx 

http:2023\02.23.23\2.23.23
mailto:Jennifer.Sykes@lakelandgov.net


 

 
 

 
 

    
 

               
        

       
    

   

   

            
 

    

       
   

    

  
   

 

  

      

      
 

   

   
            

   

  
   

  
             

    
   

  
   

     
 

   
         

     
 

MINUTES 

DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE 
City Commission Chambers 

Thursday, January 26, 2023 

(Note: These meeting minutes comply with F.S. 286.011 and are not intended to be a verbatim transcript.) 

The City of Lakeland Historic Preservation Board’s Design Review Committee, met in Regular Session; Lynn 
Dennis, Landis Fleming, Jeremy Moses, Chris Olson, Cesar Perez, Michael Porter and MeLynda Rinker 
were present. Historic Preservation Board member Natalie Oldenkamp was also present. Community & 
Economic Development Department staff Emily Foster, Senior Planner, Historic Preservation, Christelle 
Burrola, Planning Assistant, and Jerrod Simpson, Assistant City Attorney, were also present. 

I. Call to Order and Determination of a Quorum 

The meeting was called to order by Chair MeLynda Rinker at 8:37 a.m. The Committee roll call was 
performed and a quorum was present. 

II. Review and Approval of the Previous Meeting Minutes 

Mr. Chris Olson motioned to approve the December 15, 2022 meeting minutes. Ms. Lynn Dennis 
seconded the motion. The motion passed 7—0. 

III. Review of Certificates of Review administratively approved. 

A list of twenty-five (25) administratively approved Certificate of Review projects covering the period 
12/9/22-1/19/23 was included with the agenda packet. There were no additional questions or comments 
about these projects. 

IV. Consideration of Certificate of Review Applications: 

A. Oath Administration for Public Testimony by Assistant City Attorney Jerrod Simpson. 

B. HPB22-251 – 814 South Boulevard – Final Approval requested for the new construction 
of a detached garage at the rear of the subject property, as well as minor exterior 
alterations to the house on the subject property. Owner/Applicant: Ms. Lea Del Tosto. 

Chair Rinker introduced the request and then asked if there were any conflicts of interest 
pertaining to this agenda item. Mr. Landis Fleming recused himself from the vote for this item as 
he had a conflict of interest and stated that the applicant was his niece. 

Ms. Emily Foster presented the staff report, stating the subject property consists of an interior lot 
of record with a total area of 0.23 acres. On the property is a one-story Bungalow house built circa 
1921, which is a contributing building in the South Lake Morton Historic District. The Applicant 
requests to build a new accessory structure for use as a detached garage. The garage is proposed 
to be 14 feet by 26 feet (364 square feet) with a mean height of 11.2 feet, and will be located in 
the rear yard, southeast corner, of the subject property. The structure will consist of typical wood 
frame construction on a concrete foundation and have Hardie Board lap siding, a gable roof with 
a 6:12 pitch and a two-feet wide overhang, and dimensional shingles. The garage will also feature 
two vinyl horizontal sliding windows, a metal garage door with glass top panel, and metal 9-lite 
entry door. The site plan submitted with the Application shows accessory building setback 
dimensions that meet the Land Development Code’s Urban Form Standards. In addition, the 
Applicant requests to make several minor alterations to the property and existing house, including: 

• Construction of a gabled overhang at the entry door on the rear elevation of the house; 
the overhang will be wood and use dimensional shingles. 



    

      
 

   
   

 
  
   

 

       
     

  

    
            

        
            

   
     

            
   

 
    

   
   

       
  

     
      

   

    

        
  

  

   
 

    
            

 
 

            
    

    
    
  

  
   

 
 

   

• Installation of a concrete parking pad and drive at the rear of the property with access from 
the alley. 

• Installation of a 6 feet tall, pressure-treated wood horizontal slat semi-private fence and 
3½ feet tall gothic style pressure-treated wood picket fence. Fences are to be located in 
the side and rear yards as depicted on the site plan. 

• Construction of 8 feet extension in depth to the existing deck at the rear of the house. 
• Selective replacement of termite-damaged siding on house with wood siding to match the 

existing siding. 

While the requested overhang, paving, fences, and selective replacement of siding is eligible for 
staff-level review, these items were included in the Major Review request by the Applicant to be 
approved concurrent with the detached garage. 

Ms. Foster stated that the request was evaluated using Secretary’s Standards for Rehabilitation 
#9, #10 and Chapters 4 and 6 of the Design Guidelines for Historic Properties. In evaluating the 
request with the Standards, staff finds that the proposed detached garage and minor alterations 
to the house do not disturb the spatial relationships of the principal house, and its setting and 
integrity is maintained. New but similar materials will be used on the accessory structure, which 
will be complementary in nature to the design of the house. In evaluating the request with the 
Design Guidelines, staff finds the materials of the proposed detached garage, overhang, fences, 
deck expansion, and new paving are consistent with the Design Guidelines. Staff finds the style 
of the garage to be simple and compatible in design and subordinate to the subject house, as well 
as placed appropriately at the rear of the subject property. The location, heights, and design of 
the proposed fences are also consistent with the Design Guidelines, as is the location and size of 
the proposed drive and parking area. Finally, the setbacks of both the detached garage and 
fences meet the requirements of the Land Development Code for these structures. Ms. Foster 
stated Staff recommends final approval of the request as submitted. 

Chair Rinker asked if the Applicant had any additional comments or questions. Ms. Lea Del Tosto 
was present in support of the request. 

There were no public comments. 

MOTION: Final approval of the request as submitted. (C. Perez/L. Dennis, 7—0) 

C. HPB22-253 – 745 Johnson Avenue – Final Approval requested for the new construction 
of an accessory building on the subject property. Owner: Mr. Matthew Bernal. Applicant: 
Mr. Michael Carter. 

Chair Rinker introduced the request and then asked if there were any conflicts of interest 
pertaining to this agenda item. There were no conflicts. 

Ms. Emily Foster presented the staff report, stating the subject property consists of an interior lot 
of record with a total area of 0.48 acres. The property contains a one-story Frame Vernacular 
house built circa 1922, which is a contributing building in the South Lake Morton Historic District. 
This house is 1,515 square feet in living area. The subject property also contains a one-story, 352 
square feet single family dwelling built circa 1945 and a two-story, 1,480 square feet multi-family 
building built circa 1940, both of which are located at the rear of the subject property. An existing 
metal utility building consisting of approximately 200 square feet is located on the north side of 
the subject property. The Applicant requests to build a new accessory structure for use as a 
workshop. The structure is proposed to be 20 feet by 30 feet (600 square feet) with a mean height 
of 12.135 feet and will be located in the south side yard of the subject property. The structure will 
consist of typical wood frame construction on a concrete slab foundation and have Hardie Board 
lap siding with a 6-inch exposure and a gable roof with a 4:12 pitch and architectural shingles. 
The structure will also feature vinyl single-hung sash windows and two fiberglass paneled entry 
doors. The site plan submitted with the Application shows placement of the accessory structure 

Page 2 



    

  
   

    
     

        
   

  
      

          
 

   
   

         
       

   
     

  
  

     
 

 
 

 
  

 

   
   

  

    
 

   
       
 

        
     

  

 
   

   
   

  
 

     
        

   
   

   

on the lot with building setback dimensions that meet the Land Development Code’s Urban Form 
Standards, including a front (street) setback of 50 feet. 

Ms. Foster stated that the request was evaluated using Secretary’s Standards for Rehabilitation 
#9, #10 and Chapter 4 of the Design Guidelines for Historic Properties. In evaluating the request 
with the Standards, staff finds that the proposed accessory structure does not disturb the spatial 
relationships of the principal house, and its setting and integrity is maintained. New but similar 
materials will be used on the accessory structure, which will be complementary in nature to the 
design of the house. In evaluating the request with the Design Guidelines, staff finds the materials 
of the accessory structure consistent with the Design Guidelines. Staff finds the style of the 
structure to be simple and compatible in design and subordinate to the subject house, as well as 
placed appropriately behind the front façade of the house within the interior side yard of the 
subject property. For further compatibility with the house, staff recommends the use of a full- or 
half-lite door instead of a solid paneled door for the entry facing Johnson Avenue. Finally, the 
setbacks of the accessory structure meet the requirements of the Land Development Code. The 
subject property consists of three lots of record and can comfortably accommodate several 
buildings within the urban neighborhood context of the South Lake Morton Historic District. 

Ms. Foster stated Staff recommends Final Approval of the request, with the following conditions 
to be reviewed by staff prior to permitting: 

1. Install a full- or half-lite door instead of a solid paneled door for the entry facing Johnson 
Avenue. 

2. If simulated divided-lite windows are to be used, windows with a six-over-six or six-over-
one lite configuration must be used, and muntins are required to be dimensional and 
mounted to the exterior glass. 

3. Ensure accessory building has corner boards, frieze boards, and door and window trim 
similar in dimension to the house. 

Chair Rinker asked if the Applicant had any additional comments or questions. Mr. Matthew 
Bernal was present in support of the request. 

There were no public comments. 

In response to Mr. Chris Olson, Mr. Bernal stated that he has no issues with staff’s recommended 
conditions. 

MOTION: Final approval of the request with the conditions recommended by staff with the 
addition that the exterior cladding material will be Hardie Board lap siding. (M. Porter/C. 
Olson, 7—0) 

D. HPB23-003 – 800 E. Palmetto Street – Final Approval requested to construct a new 
addition onto the Polk Museum of Art building. Owner: Polk Museum of Art, Inc. Applicant: 
Mr. Tim Hoeft, Straughn Trout Architects. 

Chair Rinker introduced the request and then asked if there were any conflicts of interest 
pertaining to this agenda item. Mr. Cesar Perez and Ms. Lynn Dennis recused themselves from 
the vote for this item due to conflicts of interest. Mr. Perez is employed with Straughn Trout 
Architects and Ms. Dennis’ husband is the applicant’s representative. 

Ms. Emily Foster presented the staff report, stating the subject property consists of approximately 
12 lots along Michigan Avenue between E. Palmetto Street and E. Chiles Street and is 2.23 acres 
in size. On this property is the Polk Museum of Art, which is a two-story masonry building that 
was built in 1988 and is a non-contributing building within the East Lake Morton Historic District. 
The existing structure comprises 47,888 square feet in total. The origins of the Polk Museum of 
Art (the “Museum”) began in 1966 when it was established by the Junior Welfare League, now 
the Junior League of Greater Lakeland. The museum was first housed in a former Publix grocery 

Page 3 



    

      
   

  
    

 
    

 
  

               
         

  
           

   
      

  
  

    
   

    
      

     
  

    
 

   
              

   
  

             
 

   
 

           
          

  

    
            

   
     

   
   

 
 

   
       

    
        

  
    

     
   

store building on the subject property. In 2017, the Museum affiliated with Florida Southern 
College, and is currently a not-for-profit, teaching museum. The Museum is also the largest and 
only nationally accredited visual arts organization in Polk County and the only Smithsonian 
Affiliate art museum in Central Florida. A. Ernest Straughn, the late founding principal of Straughn 
Trout Architects, designed the existing museum building that opened to the public in 1988. 
Considered Postmodern architecture, the building blends traditional architectural materials found 
in Lakeland, such as brick, stucco, glass, and copper, with contemporary and geometric forms 
evocative of the Postmodern architectural movement popular in the U.S. during the late twentieth 
century. The proposal seeks to construct a new two-story, 13,100 square feet gallery addition to 
the northwest corner of the existing museum building. The purpose of the addition is to advance 
the Museum's goal of becoming one of the nation's leading academic fine art museums and 
scholarly centers for the study of the arts and visual culture. The addition will provide classroom 
and art laboratory space for students, as well as four new gallery spaces to enhance the visitor 
viewing experience. Interior renovations, including enhancements to existing classroom spaces, 
the addition of bathrooms, and upgrades to mechanical systems, will also be undertaken, but are 
not subject to the historical design review process. Limited site work as required to accommodate 
the addition will include adjustments to the parking lot and driveways with a new access to Chiles 
Street, upgraded exterior lighting, and mechanical yard adjustments to accommodate new 
equipment. The new addition is proposed to be setback 11 feet from the E. Chiles Street property 
line. Approximately 14 or more spaces in the existing parking lot will be removed because of the 
construction of the addition. The design of the addition reflects the Postmodern architectural 
aesthetic of the original 1988 building. Connecting the existing building with the addition is a 
hyphen, consisting of a glass curtainwall with copper elements. The visually dominant rectangular 
addition sits atop a brick foundation and features smooth finish stucco cladding with diagonal 
panel indentations leading to an off-center window. Aligning with the window on the front (west) 
elevation is a bay window that projects from the north side elevation; this wall continues the use 
of stucco cladding and the glass curtainwall hyphen. Additionally, on the north side of the building, 
the existing mechanical equipment yard will be reconfigured and enclosed by an 8-feet high black 
welded wire fence. The materials for the addition reflect the exterior materials of the 1988 building, 
including: 

• Concrete foundation stem wall with brick veneer and synthetic stucco cladding with copper 
panels to match existing. 

• Glazing will consist of a glass curtainwall system with bronze finish mullions, and roofing 
will consist of single-ply membrane on low slope roof with metal clerestory roof elements 
to match existing. 

Ms. Foster stated that the request was evaluated using Secretary’s Standards for Rehabilitation 
#9, #10 and Chapter 4 of the Design Guidelines for Historic Properties. Staff finds the request is 
consistent with the Standards, as the proposed addition is contained to the interior of the subject 
property and will not adversely affect the character or spatial relationships of nearby historic 
buildings within the East Lake Morton Historic District. With regard to the Design Guidelines 
concerning the location of building additions, an addition is not typically appropriate for placement 
on the primary or front façade of a building as the Applicant has requested; however, given that 
the subject building is a non-contributing building in the Historic District, a uniquely designed civic 
institution reflecting its use, and an architectural style that is not defined or contemplated within 
the Design Guidelines, staff finds the placement of the addition to be appropriate given this 
context. Staff finds that scale and massing of the addition is similar to the scale and massing of 
the north section of the existing building and compatible with the Postmodern style of the Museum. 
The requested addition is differentiated from the 1988 museum building but compatible in design 
and materials. Finally, in researching the history of the Museum building, it was found that Mr. 
Straughn, lead architect, designed the 1988 building with future expansions in mind. This 
information, combined with the fact that the same architecture firm has designed the requested 

Page 4 



    

         
         

       
    

     
   

    
   

  

   
   

   

     
        

  

  
  

     
   

 
  

   
 

   
   

   
    

   
   

   
  

 
  
  
  

 
           
        

     
   

  

    
  

   
   

             

addition as the original building, further supports the request. The site plan and limited site work 
are appropriate from a design review standpoint. The site plan is currently under review by 
Planning staff and additional City departments for compliance with the Land Development Code 
and other requirements; therefore, this staff report and recommendation will not supersede any 
conditions related to the site imposed by the City upon site plan approval. Ms. Foster stated staff 
recommends Final Approval of the request as submitted. 

Chair Rinker asked if the Applicant had any additional comments or questions. Mr. Tim Hoeft was 
present in support of the request. 

There were no public comments. 

In response to Mr. Chris Olson, Mr. Hoeft stated that the homeowners of the residence on Charles 
Street, across from the museum, are aware and supportive of the expansion. 

MOTION: Final approval of the request as submitted. (L. Fleming/C. Olson, 5—0) 

E. HPB23-005 – 1002 Success Avenue – Final Approval requested to construct a new 
addition onto the house on the subject property. Owner: Mr. Coady Cheek and Mrs. Ashley 
Cheek. Applicant: Mr. Daniel Sharrett, Sharrett Construction. 

Chair Rinker introduced the request and then asked if there were any conflicts of interest 
pertaining to this agenda item. There were no conflicts. 

Ms. Emily Foster presented the staff report, stating the subject property is an interior lot of record 
(Dixieland Subdivision, Block 12, Lots 9 and 10) consisting of 0.32 acres. On this property is a 
one-story, single-family residence built circa 1950 in the Ranch architectural style, which is a non-
contributing building in the South Lake Morton Historic District. The house has a hipped roof 
covered in architectural shingles, struck block painted walls, and combination of metal casement 
and awning windows and single-hung sash vinyl windows. A hipped roof, single width, open-sided 
carport is attached to the south side of the home. The current living area of this house is 1,264 
square feet. The Applicant’s request proposes to construct a building addition on the south side 
elevation of the house with a total area of 1,456 square feet. The addition will consist of living 
space (1,090 SF), a new carport (312 SF), and storage room (54 SF). As part of this major 
alteration, the existing carport will be enclosed for use as a living space within the house. The 
design and materials for the addition are intended to match the existing house, and include: 

• A concrete foundation to match existing; 
• Exterior cladding to consist of concrete masonry unit walls with struck block joints to match 

existing; 
• Vinyl or aluminum casement windows with a single lite configuration; 
• Hipped roof matching existing 3/12 pitch and architectural shingles; and 
• Aluminum soffit and fascia to match existing. 

The site plan for the proposed addition shows building setbacks that comply with the Urban Form 
Standards in the Land Development Code. Additionally, the Applicant requests to replace all metal 
casement and awning windows, as well as two vinyl single-hung sash windows (previous 
replacements) currently existing on the house with vinyl or aluminum casement windows. This 
window replacement request was previously approved by the Design Review Committee in June 
2019 (HPB19-109), but the Certificate of Review issued for that approval expired June 27, 2020. 

Ms. Foster stated that the request was evaluated using Secretary’s Standards for Rehabilitation 
#9, #10 and Chapter 4 of the Design Guidelines for Historic Properties. In evaluating the request 
with the Standards, staff finds the requested addition does not disturb the spatial relationships 
that characterize the neighborhood, and the essential form and integrity of the subject house is 
maintained. In evaluating the request with the Design Guidelines, staff finds that the materials of 

Page 5 



    

   
 

  
    

    
      

        
       

   
      

          
          

   
   

   
          

     
            

 
        
  

  
   

  
  

 
         

 

    
     

  

     
 

       
 

  
 

     

 

              
      

 

the proposed addition reflect the original materials of the house and are compatible with the 
Guidelines. The design of the proposed addition, including plan, cladding type, enclosed soffit, 
casement windows, and roof pitch and form, is consistent with the Ranch style of the subject 
house and Design Guidelines. Furthermore, the addition is appropriately placed on the interior 
side elevation of the house and is setback from its front façade, and a new carport designed 
similarly to the existing carport is provided. Finally, the building setbacks for the new addition meet 
the requirements of the Land Development Code’s Urban Form Standards. With regard to the 
request for replacement windows on the existing house, staff acknowledges that a similar request 
was approved by the Design Review Committee in 2019. While this house was categorized as 
noncontributing at that time because the construction date of the house was beyond the historic 
district’s period of significance (1904-1942), this house is now beyond the 50-year baseline criteria 
for historic designation. In fact, in the resurvey of the South Lake Morton Historic District in 
November 2022, this house was surveyed and found to be a contributing structure, as it retains 
architectural integrity as a house of the Ranch architectural style. The metal casement windows 
are a character-defining feature of this architectural style and contribute to the architectural 
integrity of this house. Based on the Certificate of Review issued in 2019, replacement windows 
can be approved, but staff recommends that replacement windows match the divided lite 
configuration of the original windows with exterior-mounted muntins. Replacement of the awning 
windows, located on the rear of the house, with PVC fixed picture windows is consistent with the 
Design Guidelines. Ms. Foster stated Staff recommends Final Approval of the request with the 
following conditions, to be reviewed and approved by staff prior to permitting: 

1. Existing casement windows may be replaced with vinyl or aluminum casement windows 
with exterior-mounted, dimensional muntins matching the pane configuration of the 
original windows. 

2. Existing vinyl single-hung sash window may be replaced with vinyl or aluminum casement 
windows without a divided lite appearance. 

3. Existing metal awning windows may be replaced with vinyl or aluminum fixed picture 
windows without a divided lite appearance. 

Chair Rinker asked if the Applicant had any additional comments or questions. Mr. Daniel Sharrett 
was present in support of the request. 

There were no public comments. 

In response to Mr. Jerrod Simpson, Mr. Sharrett stated that he agrees to staff’s recommended 
conditions. 

MOTION: Final approval of the request with the conditions recommended by staff. (L. 
Dennis/L. Fleming, 7—0) 

V. Other Business: NONE 

VI. Adjournment: There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:22 a.m. 

Chair, Design Review Committee Senior Planner, Historic Preservation 

Page 6 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Certificates of Review Administratively Approved 
Between 1/20/2023 and 2/17/2023 

1. 1113 DOROTHY ST (Non-Contributing Building) - Installation of a 6 ft. tall wood fence 
enclosing the rear yard of the subject property. 
Subject to the following conditions:  (HPB23-015) 

2. 301 HILLCREST ST (Contributing Building) - Replace existing wooden deck on east 
elevation of the house with a new PT wood deck, approximately 14 feet by 28 feet, 
elevated 22 inches from grade. 
Subject to the following conditions:  (HPB23-017) 

3. 905 S MISSOURI AV (Non-Contributing Building) - Installation of a 6 ft. tall golden oak 
PVC fence along the southern property line of the subject property. 
Subject to the following conditions:  (HPB23-018) 

4. 1927 CHEROKEE TR (Non-Contributing Building) - Install 172 linear feet of 6 ft. tall beige 
PVC privacy fence enclosing rear yard of subject property. 
Subject to the following conditions:  (HPB23-021) 

5. 127 LAKE MORTON DR (Non-Contributing Building) - Removal of existing swimming 
pool on the interior of the site to convert into an additional garage space. Garage door 
to match existing (FL#5587). Above this space will be converted to a concrete deck. 
Subject to the following conditions:  (HPB23-023) 

6. 1 LK HOLLINGSWORTH DR (Non-Contributing Building) - Remove rotted wooden "fins" 
on all buildings and replace with water proofing and Hardie board attachment. 
Subject to the following conditions:  (HPB23-024) 

7. 208 W PARK ST (Contributing Building) - Replacement of the wood fence along the rear 
property line due to hurricane damage. New 6 ft. tall wood privacy fence installed along 
rear property line complying with required 3 ft. setback from alley. 
Subject to the following conditions:  (HPB23-026) 

8. 506 W BELMAR ST (Contributing Building) - Install 287 linear feet of 6ft high STOCKADE 
wood fence enclosing rear yard of subject property along with two (2) gates 6'x12' and 
6'x5'. 
Subject to the following conditions:  (HPB23-027) 

9. 315 HUNTER ST (Contributing Building) - Installation of a new 6 ft. tall wood privacy 
fence at rear and sides of subject property, maintaining a 3 feet setback from alley 
pavement. 
Subject to the following conditions:  (HPB23-028) 

2/17/2023 10:13:08 AM 



 

Certificates of Review Administratively Approved 
Between 1/20/2023 and 2/17/2023 

10. 126 E PARK ST (Contributing Building) - Installation of 62 linear feet of 3 ft. tall white 
PVC picket fence in the front yard of the subject property. 
Subject to the following conditions:  (HPB23-030) 

2/17/2023 10:13:08 AM 



  
 

 
 

 
  

 
  
  
   
  
 

 
     

    
 
 

 
 

  
  
     

   
 

 
 

         
 

  
 

     
          

        
   

    
     

 

       
          

     
    

 
 

  
  

    
   

      
      

    
    

    
 

       
        

HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD 
DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE 

STAFF REPORT 
February 23, 2023 

Project # HPB23-016 
Project Type Garage Apartment 

Property Address 1017 South Boulevard 
Historic District; 

FMSF# 
South Lake Morton Historic District; 
SLM #4-29; “Mrs. Lucy M. Killebrew House” (CD 1924) 

Owner/Applicant Mr. Marten Walters / Prebor 3 Architecture 
Zoning; Context District; 

Future Land Use; SPI 
RA-4; Residential Medium; 
Urban Neighborhood; South Lake Morton SPI 

Existing Use Residential 
Adjacent Properties Residential 
Previous Approvals Rebuild rear stoop, railing and add handicap ramp, 11/2/2007 (2007-201); 

Fence, 9/25/2012 (2012-093). 

REQUEST 

The Applicant requests Final Approval to construct a garage apartment in the rear yard of the subject property. 

SUMMARY OF BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The subject property consists of one interior lot of record (Cox & Johnson’s Subdivision of Scotts Lakeland Heights, 
Block 1, Lot 18) consisting of 0.16 acres. This property has alley access. On the property is a one-story single-family 
house, constructed circa 1925 in the Bungalow architectural style, which is a contributing building in the South 
Lake Morton Historic District. Features expressing the Bungalow style include the cross-gable roof, front-gabled 
front porch, and tapered porch columns on brick plinths. According to the Polk County Property Appraiser’s office, 
the total living area of this house is 1,291 square feet. 

The Applicant requests to construct a two-story garage apartment in the rear yard, which is proposed to be 23 
feet 4 inches by 23 feet 4 inches in size (544.3 square feet). The new building is proposed to consist of a 544 square 
feet garage on the ground floor, and a 544 square feet studio apartment on the second floor, accessed by an 
external stair. The second-story apartment will feature a full-width balcony on the east elevation of the building. 
Materials proposed to be used for the garage apartment include: 

Scope Material 
Foundation Concrete slab on grade 
Exterior Cladding Stucco over masonry on ground floor; fiber cement lap siding on second floor 
Trim/Casing Fiber cement trim, casing, and corner boards 
Windows Vinyl single-hung sash windows with three-over-one lite configuration 
Doors Steel overhead garage door; fiberglass entry doors with full or partial glazing 
Roof Fiberglass shingles; 6/12 pitch 
Fascia Fiber cement or PVC fascia 
Stairs/Balcony Pressure treated wood stairs and balcony 

The site plan submitted for this request shows building setbacks of five feet from the interior (south) property line 
and 15 feet from the rear property line. A new 21 feet four inches wide concrete driveway connecting to the 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2023\02.23.23\1017 south boulevard (hpb23-016)\1017 south boulevard staff report.docx Page 1 



  
 

       
     

 
 

 

      
   

  
 

   
 

  
   

    
     

 

  
     

 
 

    
    

 

 
     
    

   
    
     

 
 

 
 

       
          

      
 

    
       

              
     

        
   

 

    
          

         
 

 
 
 
 

garage from the alley is proposed, as well as a single concrete parking space placed in the rear yard. The site plan 
complies with the Land Development Code pertaining to Accessory Dwelling Units. 

APPLICABLE GUIDELINES: 

The Secretary of Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation (“Standards”) and the City of Lakeland’s Design Guidelines 
for Historic Properties (“Design Guidelines”) are the basis for review per the City of Lakeland Land Development 
Code (“LDC”), Article 11: Historic Preservation Standards. 

The following Standards apply to this project: 

Standard #9. New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction will not destroy historic 
materials, features, and spatial relationships that characterize the property. The new works will be 
differentiated from the old and will be compatible with the historic materials, features, size, scale, and 
proportion, and massing to protect the integrity of the property and its environment. 

Standard #10. New additions and adjacent or related new construction will be undertaken in such a manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property and its environment 
would be unimpaired. 

The following Design Guidelines apply to this project: 
Chapter 4: Historical Development Patterns and New Construction 

Sub-Chapter 4.9.1: Accessory Dwelling Units 
• Accessory dwelling units that are configured as simple cottages or garage apartments. 
• Accessory dwelling units that complement the architectural character of the principal house through 

the use of similar materials and simplified architectural elements. 
• An accessory dwelling unit that is compatible and subordinate in scale and form to the principal house. 
• Accessory dwelling units that are compliant with minimum building setbacks to reduce visual impacts 

from the street and adjacent properties. 

ANALYSIS: 

In evaluating the request with the Standards, staff finds that the garage apartment does not disturb the spatial 
relationships of the principal house, and the essential form and integrity of the existing house is maintained. New 
but similar materials will be used, which will be complementary in nature to the design of the house. 

In evaluating the request with the Design Guidelines, staff finds the subordinate scale of the garage apartment 
and its simplified design to be consistent with the Design Guidelines. Staff finds the materials and design of the 
window, doors, balcony, and roof pitch to be consistent with the Design Guidelines, and the structure is 
appropriately located to the rear of the lot with vehicular access from the alley. This structure is compatible with 
the development pattern in the Lake Morton neighborhood, in which accessory dwellings are commonly found in 
both historic and contemporary form. 

For compliance with Land Development Code Sub-Section 4.3.2 regarding accessory dwelling units (“ADU”), as 
well as approval for Compatibility Review by the Planning and Zoning Board, the maximum square footage for the 
ADU will need to be reduced from 544 square feet to 516 square feet based on the living area square footage of 
the principal house. 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2023\02.23.23\1017 south boulevard (hpb23-016)\1017 south boulevard staff report.docx Page 2 



  
 

 
 

  
    
   

   
     

 
       

  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Final Approval of the request with the following condition: 
1. Use fiber cement lap siding with a maximum exposure of 6 inches. 
2. Windows must be installed with a recess to provide a shadow line instead of flush to exterior wall; 

simulated divided lite muntins must be dimensional and mounted to exterior glass. 
3. Use a straight eave return instead of a boxed or “pork chop” eave return. 

Report prepared by: Emily Foster, Senior Planner, Historic Preservation 
Liaison to the Historic Preservation Board 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2023\02.23.23\1017 south boulevard (hpb23-016)\1017 south boulevard staff report.docx Page 3 









GENERAL NOTES 

GENERAL NOTES: 

DRAWING NOTES 
LEGEND 

review               11.30.2022 
bid 
permit 
revision 
revision 



GENERAL NOTES 

Detail Detail 

ROOFING NOTES 

Detail Detail 

review               11.30.2022 
bid 
permit 
revision 
revision 



GENERAL NOTES 

ELEVATION GENERAL NOTES 

ROOFING NOTES 

WOOD STAIR NOTES: 

review        11.30. 2022 
bid 
permit 
revision 
revision 

 BOTTOM CONNECTION  BALCONY RAIL DETAIL TOP CONNECTION 
1 1/2" = 1'-0" 1 1/2" = 1'-0" 0 20 2'1'1' ' 01'1' 0 1 1/2" = 1'-0" 0 20 2'1'1' ' 01'1' 0 0 20 2'1'1' ' 01'1' 0 



GENERAL NOTES ADDRESS 

LOT DATA 

SYMBOL LEGEND 

BUILDING DATA 

ACCESSORY BUILDING UNIT STANDARDS 

SITE NOTES 

GENERAL 

STANDARD MOUNTING HEIGHTS 

review               11.30.2022 
bid 
permit
revision 
revision 











  
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

      
   

    
  
   

 
  

   
  
  
   

 
 

 
 

          
 

  
 

     
        

   
      

           
       

       
 

         
       

        
    

        
    

 

  
    

       
       

  
     

  
         

    
       

HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD 
DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE 

STAFF REPORT 
February 23, 2023 

Project # HPB23-019 
Address; Historic Name 522 E. Park Street; “Albert E. Pike House” (CD 1925) 

Owner/Applicant Mr. Michael McArthur and Ms. Jennifer Smurr 
Design Professionals Jon Kirk, Straughn Trout Architects and Matthew Smurr, CGC 

Project Type Building Addition 
Historic District; FMSF# South Lake Morton Historic District; #9-22 

Zoning; Future Land Use; 
Context District; SPI 

RA-4; Residential Medium 
Urban Neighborhood; South Lake Morton SPI 

Existing Use Residential 
Adjacent Properties Residential 
Previous Approvals Fence, 10/26/2021 (HPB21-224); Fence, 3/10/2005 (2005-031); Re-roof, 

6/10/1993 (1993-34). 

REQUEST 

The Applicant requests Final Approval to construct a two-story addition onto the rear elevation of the house. 

SUMMARY OF BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The subject property is an interior lot of record (Dixieland, Block 15, Lot 19) consisting of 0.28 acres. On this 
property is a one-story, single-family residence built circa 1925 in the Bungalow architectural style, which is a 
contributing building in the South Lake Morton Historic District. The Bungalow styling of this house is expressed 
by a front-gabled roof, and a front porch with a hipped roof supported by square columns. The house also has 
novelty siding, corner boards, exposed rafter tails, and double-hung sash wood windows with a nine-over-one lite 
configuration in the Prairie style. This home remains in most of its original condition. The current living area of 
this house is 988 square feet, according to the Polk County Property Appraiser’s office. 

The Applicant’s request proposes to construct a two-story addition onto the rear elevation of the home consisting 
of approximately 1,000 square feet, which will consist of additional living space, as well as an additional bedroom 
and bathroom. The proposed addition will remove two existing historical windows and a small shed-roofed porch 
on the rear elevation of the house. The addition will be approximately 26 feet 8 inches tall from finish floor grade 
to the ridge of the roof, and the design and materials for the addition are intended to be compatible with the 
existing house. Materials proposed for the addition include: 

Scope Material 
Foundation Raised foundation to match existing 
Exterior Cladding Wood lap siding to match existing novelty siding 
Trim/Casing Corner boards and window/door trim and casing to match existing 
Windows Aluminum single-hung sash windows with a Prairie style 9-lite upper sash; 

windows on south and east elevation of addition appear to be fixed windows 
with 4- and 8-lite configurations. 

Roof Fiberglass or asphalt shingles to match existing; gable profile matching pitch with 
wood gable vent matching the design of the existing 

Fascia/Soffit Wood fascia; exposed eave and rafter tails to match existing 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2023\02.23.23\522 e. park street (hpb23-019)\522 e. park street staff report.docx Page 1 



  
 

 
     

  
 

 
 

    
  

  
 

   
 

    
     

 

    
      

      
  

 

      
  

 
 

    
   

 
   

      
   

   
      

   
   

    
     
    
    

  
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

      
     

  
 

       
       

The site plan for the proposed addition shows building setbacks that comply with the City’s Land Development 
Code, Urban Form Standards. 

APPLICABLE GUIDELINES: 

The Secretary of Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation (“Standards”) and the City of Lakeland’s Design Guidelines 
for Historic Properties (“Design Guidelines”) are the basis for review per the City of Lakeland Land Development 
Code, Article 11: Historic Preservation Standards. 

The following Standards apply to this project: 

Standard #2. The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided. 

Standard #9. New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction will not destroy historic materials, 
features, and spatial relationships that characterize the property. The new works will be differentiated from the 
old and will be compatible with the historic materials, features, size, scale, and proportion, and massing to 
protect the integrity of the property and its environment. 

Standard #10. New additions and adjacent or related new construction will be undertaken in such a manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property and its environment 
would be unimpaired. 

The following Design Guidelines apply to this project: 
Chapter 4: Historical Development Patterns and New Construction 
Sub-Chapter 4.5: Additions 

• Ensure that Historic Buildings Remain the Central Focus. An addition should not damage or obscure 
architecturally important details and materials of the primary structure or other resources on the 
site. Additions should be distinguishable from the original structure without distracting from it. 

• False Historicism/Conjectural History is Discouraged. Design additions should reflect their era of 
construction while respecting the historic context and architectural style of the original structure. 
Avoid using architectural details for additions that are more ornate than those found on the original 
structure or that are not characteristic of the original structure’s architectural character. 

• Additions that protect and maintain original architectural features during construction. 
• Additions that minimize the loss of any architectural details or features. 
• Additions that are subordinate to and compatible with the style and scale of the host structure. 
• Side additions that are located behind the principal street-facing façade, or rear additions that are 

unnoticeable from the street. 
• Additions that are designed with some distinction between the historic house and non-historic 

features. 
• Additions that are differentiated from the host structure, e.g. by a recess in wall plane, lower roof 

height, or vertical trim piece. 

ANALYSIS: 

In evaluating the request with the Standards, staff finds the requested addition does not disturb the spatial 
relationships that characterize the neighborhood, and the essential form and integrity of the subject house is 
maintained. 

In evaluating the request with the Design Guidelines, the materials of the proposed addition reflect the original 
materials of the house and are compatible with the Guidelines. The design of the proposed addition’s windows, 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2023\02.23.23\522 e. park street (hpb23-019)\522 e. park street staff report.docx Page 2 



  
 

           
         

 

      
 

 
 

 

   
 

         
      

     
 

   
  

   
 
 

       
  

siding, open eave and exposed rafter tails, and roof pitch and form is consistent with the style of the subject house 
and Design Guidelines. Furthermore, the addition is appropriately placed on the rear elevation of the house. 

Finally, the building setbacks for the new addition meet the requirements of the Land Development Code’s 
Urban Form Standards. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Final Approval of the request with the following conditions, to be approved by staff prior to permitting: 

1. Siding on addition must match the exposure dimension and profile of the original siding on the house. 
2. Windows on the addition shall comply with the following requirements: 

a. Windows with a divided lite appearance must have dimensional muntins/grid installed on the 
exterior glass. 

b. Windows must be recessed to provide a shadow line and not installed flush to the exterior wall 
surface. 

c. Windows also must include historically appropriate trim, including header, sill, and apron. 

Report prepared by: Emily Foster, Senior Planner, Historic Preservation 
Liaison to the Historic Preservation Board 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2023\02.23.23\522 e. park street (hpb23-019)\522 e. park street staff report.docx Page 3 





















   
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

   
 
 

   
 

  
    
 
 

  
 

  
  
   

  
   

 
 

 
 

      
    

     
 

  
 

        
      

  
      

  
 

     
       

   
 

      
       

     
     

  
 

 
 

     
         

 
 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD 
DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE 

STAFF REPORT 
February 23, 2023 

Project # HPB23-020 
Project Type Recess Storefront of Building 

Property Address 
Historic Name(s) 

201 E. Main Street (108 S. Tennessee Avenue); 
N/A 

Historic District; FMSF# Munn Park Historic District; N/A 
Owner/Applicant Mr. Saqib Khan/ Mr. Soloman Wassef, Lakeland Loft 

Zoning; Future Land Use; 
Context District; SPI 

C-7; Regional Activity Center; 
Urban Center; N/A 

Existing Use Unoccupied Commercial 
Adjacent Properties Commercial, Civic 
Previous Approvals Signs, 1/15/1987 (1986-14); Signs 4/8/1993 (1993-22); Signs, 

6/9/1994 (1994-30); Signs, 2/3/2003 (2003-012); Wall Sign, 9/2/2015 
(HPB15-133); Wall Sign, 1/28/2016 (HPB15-200); Wall Sign, 
1/28/2022 (HPB22-016) 

REQUEST 

The Applicant requests to remove the current glass and metal frame storefront on the ground floor of the 
subject building and construct a recessed storefront to provide covered outdoor seating for a proposed new bar 
use in the ground floor tenant space. 

SUMMARY OF BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The subject property is located at the southeast corner of S. Tennessee Avenue and E. Main Street, and consists 
of one lot of record (Munn’s Survey, Block 18, Lot G) with a total area of 0.10 acres. On the property is a two-
story commercial building. Built circa 1959, this building is a noncontributing structure in the Munn Park Historic 
District. Historically, this building has served office uses on both floors. Currently, the second floor serves 
Lakeland Loft, while the ground floor is unoccupied. 

This masonry vernacular building features stucco exterior cladding, a pedimented parapet roofline, and 
horizontal, sculptured banding. Glass and metal storefront windows exist on the north and west ground floor 
elevations; the north elevation has an off-centered and recessed double door entry. 

In addition to a renovation of the building’s ground floor interior, the Applicant requests to remove the existing 
storefront windows, doors, and framing on the north elevation and recess this feature 25 feet inside the existing 
footprint of the ground floor, where the materials of the storefront will be reused and reinstalled. The storefront 
windows on the west elevation will remain as is. The masonry wall structure surrounding the storefront will not 
be altered, but may be repainted. 

APPLICABLE GUIDELINES: 

The Secretary of Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation and the City of Lakeland’s Design Guidelines for Historic 
Properties are the basis for review per the City of Lakeland Land Development Code (LDC), Article 11: Historic 
Preservation Standards. 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2023\02.23.23\201 e. main street (hpb23-020)\201 e. main street staff report.docx Page 1 



   
 

    
 
 

   
   

    
     

 

   
   

 
 

    
   

 
      

  
  
     

 
     

   
        

  
 

 
 

       
   

        
        

       
   

    
 

    
     

       
 

 
 

   
 

 

      
     

      
  

 
      

  

The following Standards apply to this request: 

Standard #9. New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction will not destroy historic 
materials, features, and spatial relationships that characterize the property. The new works will be 
differentiated from the old and will be compatible with the historic materials, features, size, scale, and 
proportion, and massing to protect the integrity of the property and its environment. 

Standard #10. New additions and adjacent or related new construction will be undertaken in such a manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property and its environment 
would be unimpaired. 

The following Design Guidelines apply to this project: 
Chapter 4: Historical Development Patterns and New Construction 
Sub-Chapter 4.12: Understanding Commercial Area Form 
• Retention and maintenance of all original cornice, wall articulation, window, and storefront details and 

materials of historic buildings. 
• Repair, rather than replace deteriorated features. 
• Where necessary, replace historic features with “in-kind”, similar historic materials, or compatible 

substitutes. 
• Design strategies for storefronts that extend the useful life of the structure or bring it up to current day 

building codes and standards are acceptable. 
• Use of replacement storefront materials that are comparable to original materials in size, color, shape 

and texture. 

ANALYSIS: 

Staff finds that the proposed request meets the intent of the Standards and Design Guidelines in terms of not 
destroying historic building fabric or adversely affecting architectural integrity, as the subject building is a non-
contributing structure within the Munn Park Historic District. Staff finds that the existing storefront does not 
have a unique design or distinctive materials or is otherwise historically important, and that the relocation of the 
storefront is reversible. The proposed recessed storefront area provides a design strategy to serve a variety of 
uses for the building and extend its useful life, consistent with the Design Guidelines. The recessed storefront 
treatment is consistent with other storefronts along E. Main Street, including Black and Brew and Linksters. 

Staff recommends that a simply designed metal handrail balustrade or knee wall is installed along the north 
elevation footprint of the existing storefront windows to provide a traditional bulkhead appearance and prevent 
a trip hazard from the existing storefront base, or to remove the existing base altogether. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Final Approval of the request with the following conditions, to be approved by staff before building permit 
application submittal: 

1. Install a simply designed metal handrail balustrade or knee wall along the north elevation footprint of 
the existing storefront windows above the storefront base, or remove this base altogether. 

2. Provide an exterior paint palette if repainting the exterior of the building. 
3. Signage will require an additional historical review and sign permit application. 

Report prepared by: Emily M. Foster, Senior Planner, Historic Preservation 
Liaison to the Historic Preservation Board 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2023\02.23.23\201 e. main street (hpb23-020)\201 e. main street staff report.docx Page 2 









   

 

 
 

 
 

 
  
  
  

   
 

     
 

     
  

  
 

   
   

  
   

 

 
 

         
 

 
 

 

      
         

       
        

   
 

    
           

  
    

    
 

 

  
    

   
     

   
    

   
 

           
    
  

 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD 
DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE 

STAFF REPORT 
February 23, 2023 

Project # HPB23-022 
Project Type Accessory Dwelling Unit 

Property Address 809 Osceola Street 
Historic District; 

FMSF# 
East Lake Morton Historic District; 
N/A 

Owner/Applicant Mr. Greg Neely / Mr. Dan Sharrett, Sharrett Construction 
Zoning; Context District; 

Future Land Use; SPI 
RA-4; Residential Medium; 
Urban Neighborhood; East Lake Morton SPI 

Existing Use Residential 
Adjacent Properties Residential 
Previous Approvals Demolition and New Construction, 4/23/2015 (HPB15-051) 

REQUEST 

The Applicant requests Final Approval to construct an Accessory Dwelling Unit (“ADU”) on top of the existing 
detached garage in the rear yard of the subject property. 

SUMMARY OF BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The subject property consists of one interior lot of record (Rosedale Subdivision, Block A, Lot 18 west 40 feet) 
consisting of 0.12 acres. This property has alley access. On the property is a one-story single-family house, 
constructed in 2016 to reflect the Bungalow architectural style, which is a non-contributing building in the East 
Lake Morton Historic District. According to the Polk County Property Appraiser’s office, the total living area of this 
house is 1,447 square feet. 

The Applicant requests to remove the gabled roof of the existing detached garage and construct a second story 
ADU on top of the garage, which is located in the rear yard of the subject property. The exterior dimensions of the 
ADU will match the garage and will be 19 feet ten inches by 21 feet 5 inches for a total area of 424.8 square feet. 
The new second story will feature a gabled roof with a 4/12 pitch matching the existing garage roof. The ADU will 
be accessed by an external stair. The second-story apartment will feature a full-width balcony on the east 
elevation of the building. Materials proposed to be used for the garage apartment include: 

Scope Material 
Exterior Cladding Hardie board lap siding to match existing 
Trim/Casing Hardie trim, casing, and corner boards 
Windows Vinyl single-hung sash windows 
Doors Fiberglass entry door 
Roof Asphalt shingles; 4/12 pitch 
Stairs/Balcony Wood stairs and balcony 

The site plan submitted for this request shows building setbacks of nine feet from the west side property line, 7.16 
feet from the east side property line, and 20 feet from the rear property line, which meets the requirements set 
forth in the City’s Land Development Code. 

\\col-data\cityhall-1\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2023\02.23.23\809 osceola street (hpb23-022)\809 osceola street staff report.docx Page 1 



   

 

 
 

     
       

  
 

   
 

 
   

  
 

 

   
  

 
 

   
  

 

     
   
 

 
  
  

 
 

 
 

           
    

      
 

 

         
        

         
     

     
  

 

   
   

     
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

APPLICABLE GUIDELINES: 

The Secretary of Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation (“Standards”) and the City of Lakeland’s Design Guidelines 
for Historic Properties (“Design Guidelines”) are the basis for review per the City of Lakeland Land Development 
Code (“LDC”), Article 11: Historic Preservation Standards. 

The following Standards apply to this project: 

Standard #9. New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction will not destroy historic 
materials, features, and spatial relationships that characterize the property. The new works will be 
differentiated from the old and will be compatible with the historic materials, features, size, scale, and 
proportion, and massing to protect the integrity of the property and its environment. 

Standard #10. New additions and adjacent or related new construction will be undertaken in such a manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property and its environment 
would be unimpaired. 

The following Design Guidelines apply to this project: 
Chapter 4: Historical Development Patterns and New Construction 

Sub-Chapter 4.9.1: Accessory Dwelling Units 
• Accessory dwelling units that are configured as simple cottages or garage apartments. 
• Accessory dwelling units that complement the architectural character of the principal house through 

the use of similar materials and simplified architectural elements. 
• An accessory dwelling unit that is compatible and subordinate in scale and form to the principal house. 
• Accessory dwelling units that are compliant with minimum building setbacks to reduce visual impacts 

from the street and adjacent properties. 

ANALYSIS: 

In evaluating the request with the Standards, staff finds that the second story addition to the existing garage does 
not disturb the spatial relationships of surrounding buildings, and the essential form and integrity of the principal 
house is maintained. Materials similar to the existing garage and house will be used, which provides compatibility 
with the existing structures on this property. 

In evaluating the request with the Design Guidelines, staff finds the subordinate scale of the second-story addition 
and its simplified design to be consistent with the Design Guidelines. Staff finds the materials and design of the 
window, doors, external stair, and roof pitch to be consistent with the Design Guidelines, and the structure is 
appropriately located to the rear of the lot with vehicular access from the alley. This structure is compatible with 
the development pattern in the Lake Morton neighborhood, in which accessory dwellings are commonly found in 
both historic and contemporary form. 

For compliance with Land Development Code Sub-Section 4.3.2 regarding accessory dwelling units, as well as 
approval by the Planning and Zoning Board, the site plan also must show one additional off-street parking space 
to accommodate the ADU for Compatibility Review purposes. The building setbacks as shown on the site plan 
comply with the Land Development Code requirements. 

\\col-data\cityhall-1\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2023\02.23.23\809 osceola street (hpb23-022)\809 osceola street staff report.docx Page 2 



   

 

 
 

  
 

   
      

 
 

      
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Final Approval of the request with the following conditions: 

1. Use fiber cement lap siding with a maximum exposure of 6 inches. 
2. Windows must be installed with a recess to provide a shadow line instead of installed flush with the 

exterior wall. 

Report prepared by: Emily Foster, Senior Planner, Historic Preservation 
Liaison to the Historic Preservation Board 

\\col-data\cityhall-1\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2023\02.23.23\809 osceola street (hpb23-022)\809 osceola street staff report.docx Page 3 













1 



2 



S 


	HPB Agenda
	DRC Agenda
	HPB23-016, 1017 South Blvd
	HPB23-019, 522 E Park St
	HPB23-020, 201 E Main St
	HPB23-022, 809 Osceola St



